IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO.: SC07-1300

Lower Tribunal Case No. 1D06-2016

LAWNWOOD MEDICAL CENTER, INC., d/b/a LAWNWOOD REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER AND HEART INSTITUTE, a Florida Corporation,

Appellant,

VS.

RANDALL SEEGER, M.D., as President of the Medical Staff of Lawnwood Regional Medical Center, Inc., d/b/a Lawnwood Regional Medical Center and Heart Institute, and Member of the Medical Executive Committee of Lawnwood Regional Medical Center, Inc., d/b/a Lawnwood Regional Medical Center and Heart Institute,

Appellee.

AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

INTRODUCTION

Two pathologists on the medical staff at Lawnwood Regional Medical Center and Heart Institute ("Lawnwood" or "The Hospital") had committed criminal health care fraud. They had also repeatedly misdiagnosed their patients, placing the health and safety of the public at risk. Despite repeated efforts by the Hospital's Board of Trustees ("the Board") to take corrective and disciplinary action, the Medical Executive Committee ("MEC") of the medical staff refused to investigate the offending physicians. The Medical Staff Bylaws rendered the Board powerless to compel the medical staff to review medical actions necessary to protect the safety of patients. The crimes and injurious practices of the two pathologists stopped only when a federal grand jury indicted them, and they lost their licenses to practice medicine. Similar clashes between the Board and the medical staff over quality of care were common.

To address this urgent situation, the Florida Legislature unanimously enacted the "St. Lucie County Hospital Governance Law," Florida House Bill 1447 (2003), to ensure that the Hospital's Board of Trustees could effectively police incompetent and/or criminal behavior on the part of physicians practicing at Lawnwood.

Acknowledging that the Governance Law was "a properly enacted special law," the trial judge struck it down largely because it was intended to affect the affairs of a single entity, Lawnwood. This fact was, in the court's view, the "pivotal issue" leading to the conclusion that its "alleged purpose" was in reality a "pretext" to award a "privilege" to Lawnwood's governing Board. Appendix, Tab C.

On appeal, the First District affirmed. *Lawnwood Med. Ctr., Inc. v. Seeger*, 959 So. 2d 1222 (Fla. 1st DCA 2007). The Court unanimously held that the Governance Law was a prohibited privilege for a private corporation in violation of Art. III, § 11(a)(12). Two judges agreed that it also impaired the obligation of contract in violation of Art. I, § 10. That court's declaration of invalidity confers jurisdiction upon this Court under Art. V, § 3(b)(1).

THE RECORD ON APPEAL

The record of the circuit court proceedings consists of 14 volumes, denoted R. __. For the convenience of the Court, Appellant submits contemporaneously with this brief an Appendix consisting of the following: the Hospital Governance Law (Tab A) and the Florida House of Representatives Committee on Health Care, House Bill 1447 (2003), Staff Analysis (rev. Apr. 14, 2003) (Tab AA); the opinion of the First District Court of Appeal (Tab B); and the circuit court order granting

final summary judgment to Appellee (Tab C).

The Appendix also contains excerpts of three sets of Bylaws from the record: the 1988 Board of Trustees Bylaws are Tab D, the 1993 Medical Staff Bylaws are Tab E; and the 2002 Board of Trustees Bylaws are Tab F. Tabs G and GG and H and HH contain the charges and convictions of the two physicians referred to above.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A. Nature of the Case

Lawnwood appeals from the First District Court of Appeal's opinion affirming the trial court's final summary judgment declaring that a special law, the Hospital Governance Law, is unconstitutional. This Court has jurisdiction under Art. V, § 3(b)(1).

B. Statement of the Facts

Appellant Lawnwood is a 345-bed, acute-care facility, the largest hospital in St. Lucie County. Lawnwood has more than 200 physicians on staff and more than 1200 employees. Fla. H.R. Comm. on Health Care, H.B. 1447 (2003), Staff Analysis 2 (rev. Apr. 14, 2003). Appellee is Dr. Seeger, a former President of Lawnwood's medical staff and a member of the MEC of the Hospital.

The Board of Trustees serves as the local governing body of the Hospital. R. 2084 ¶ 10. The Board of Trustees is comprised of volunteer members -- local business and community leaders as well as physicians from Lawnwood. *Id.* ¶ 9. The Board has the power to make final decisions regarding credentialing, peer review and quality assurance after considering the recommendations of the medical staff. 1988 Trustees Bylaws, Art. II, § 5 and Art. VII, § 7. These bylaws required the medical staff to establish a framework for self-governance within which medical staff members could act, while remaining accountable to the Board. 1988 Trustees Bylaws, Art. II, § 4 and Art. VII.

In 1993, Lawnwood's medical staff adopted the Medical Staff Bylaws in an effort to comply with requirements¹ of the Joint Commission on Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations ("JCAHO"). These Medical Staff Bylaws were approved by the Board. R. 2086 ¶¶ 22-24. They provide for the formation of various committees, including credentialing and re-credentialing committees to review applications for initial appointments and re-appointments to the medical staff, for final determination by the Board. 1993 Medical Staff Bylaws, Art. V,

As a condition of participation ("COP") in the federal Medicare program, 42 C.F.R. §§ 482.1-482.57 (2007), Lawnwood, like other hospitals, maintains accreditation from JCAHO as part of a national accreditation program. 42 C.F.R. §§ 488.5, 488.8 & 488.10 (2007).

Part C, D. JCAHO accreditation standard 4.20 requires members of the medical staff to re-apply for privileges and be re-credentialed at least every two years. R. 744. The same is also required by the Medical Staff Bylaws. 1993 Medical Staff Bylaws, Art. VI, Part B, §§ 3, 4(a).

The Hospital's Duty to Perform Peer Review of Physicians

Under Florida law, all hospitals "shall provide for peer review of physicians who deliver health care services at the facility." § 395.0193(2), Fla. Stat. (2005). "All . . . hospitals . . . have a duty to assure comprehensive risk management and the competence of their medical staff and personnel through careful selection and review, and are liable for a failure to exercise due care in fulfilling these duties." § 766.110(1), Fla. Stat. (2005). The Hospital's mandate also includes "supervision of the medical staff and hospital personnel to the extent necessary to ensure that such medical review and risk management processes are being diligently carried out." § 766.110(1)(c), Fla. Stat. (2005). Furthermore, where "reasonable belief exists that conduct by a staff member or physician who delivers health care services at the licensed facility may constitute one or more grounds for discipline. . ., a peer review panel shall investigate and determine whether grounds for discipline exist with respect to such staff member or physician." § 395.0193(3), Fla. Stat. (2005).

Lawnwood's medical staff had a history of resisting the Board's authority over peer review and related quality of care functions. R. 2087-2091 ¶¶ 25-52. To justify its defiance, the medical staff relied upon conflicting provisions of its own bylaws. This resulted in "substantial and ongoing disputes" between the Board and the medical staff for many years. R. 2086 ¶ 25. Indeed, there were seven lawsuits related to governance.² R. 2087 ¶ 27. These lawsuits concerned peer review, discipline, credentialing and quality assurance. *Id.* ¶ 28.

One such dispute concerned quality of care issues in the Hospital's Pathology Department. In 1997, the Board of Trustees raised concerns about the quality of the medical services rendered by two pathologists on the medical staff, Dr. Walker and Dr. Minarcik. *Id.* ¶¶ 29-30. Drs. Walker and Minarcik had error rates of 20-25% in their diagnoses of patients. R. 2298-2299.

There being a reasonable belief that the pathologists' conduct constituted grounds for discipline, the Board asked the MEC to investigate and perform peer reviews of these doctors. R. 2298-2300. The MEC refused to initiate any investigation or peer review inquiries. *Walker v. Lawnwood Med. Ctr., Inc.*, No. 99-159 CA 03 *2 (Fla. 19th Cir. Ct. Feb. 15, 1999) (hereinafter 'Walker'); R.

² The seven suits are listed and briefly described in Lawnwood's Memorandum of Law in Support of its Motion for Summary Judgment at 13-15. R. 2108-2110.

2298-2300. The Medical Staff Bylaws did not require the MEC to act upon a Board request for a peer review inquiry and did not provide for review by the Board of such inaction.

To protect patient safety, the Board suspended the medical staff privileges of Dr. Walker and Dr. Minarcik. R. 2088 ¶ 31; R. 2300. The two doctors filed suit against the Board, seeking reinstatement on the ground that, under the Medical Staff Bylaws, only the medical staff had authority to recommend their suspension. R. 2088 ¶ 33. The trial court entered a temporary injunction in favor of the doctors. *Walker*, Case No. 99-159 CA 03 at *2. R. 2088 ¶ 34. It ordered their reinstatement because (1) it viewed the 1988 Trustees Bylaws as conflicting with the 1993 Medical Staff Bylaws, and (2) it ruled that conflict must be resolved against the Hospital as the drafter of the documents. *Walker*, Case No. 99-159 CA 03 at *7.

In 2001, three years after the Board first asked the medical staff to perform peer review investigations of Drs. Walker and Minarcik, the Department of Health ("DOH") served Dr. Minarcik with an emergency order suspending his medical license.³ R. 2089 ¶ 40. The DOH order was entered because Dr. Minarcik

³ The DOH emergency order of suspension ("ESO") is listed on the DOH Website: https://ww2.doh.state.fl.us/IRM00PRAES/PRASINDI.ASP?LicId=34553&ProfNB

presented an immediate and serious danger to the health, safety and welfare of the public. Id. ¶ 41. In 2002, in response to federal indictments, Drs. Walker and Minarcik pled guilty to charges of federal healthcare fraud by performing inappropriate and medically unnecessary procedures at Lawnwood. R. 2090 ¶ 43.

The Board's Efforts to Resolve the Conflicts Between its Bylaws and the Medical Staff Bylaws

The Board attempted to resolve recurring governance conflicts with the medical staff by adopting new bylaws in 2002. The key provision is section 9.1.1: "Neither the Board or the medical staff may unilaterally amend the Medical Staff Bylaws or Rules and Regulations." But "[i]n the event the Medical Staff refuses to amend their Bylaws to comply with local, State or Federal laws and regulations, the Board retains the authority to unilaterally amend the Medical Staff Bylaws to so comply after first exhausting reasonable efforts to gain Medical Staff approval." 2002 Trustees Bylaws, Art. IX, § 9.1.1. R. 146.

By contrast, the Medical Staff Bylaws prevented the Board from amending the Medical Staff Bylaws without the consent of 60% of the medical staff. R. 121. The medical staff deemed section 9.1.1 of the 2002 Bylaws illegitimate. It maintained that it had the final word on whether to act upon the Board's request to

investigate the conduct of a physician and perform peer review. The Board and the medical staff had reached an impasse.

Enactment of the Governance Law by the Legislature

The Florida Legislature responded to the governance impasse at Lawnwood by unanimously enacting a special law, the Hospital Governance Law ("HGL"), with the stated purpose of clarifying "the delineation of authority" in hospital governance:

This bill responds to problems faced by one hospital, Lawnwood Regional Hospital . . . in St. Lucie County . . ., [which has] been unable to bring disciplinary action against the clinical privileges of two physicians who have been charged with criminal acts, due to the failure of the medical staff at the hospital to initiate peer review procedures as required by hospital procedures.

Fla. H.R. Comm. on Health Care, H.B. 1447 (2003), Staff Analysis 2 (rev. Apr. 14, 2003).

Section 1 of the HGL states that the legislative intent is "to provide consolidation of a hospital corporation's board of directors' power, authority, duty, and ultimate responsibility under *existing statutes* with respect to the operation of a hospital." (emphasis added). Fla. H.B. 1447, § 1 (2003). Section 1 further provides that "in the event of a conflict" between a hospital board's bylaws and those of its medical staff, "the hospital board's bylaws shall prevail" with respect

to credentialing, peer review, and related quality assurance programs. This is repeated in substance in Section 5. Fla. H.B. 1447, § 1 (2003).

Section 3 addresses the overall governance structure of a general hospital. Fla. H.B. 1447, § 3 (2003). Section 4 provides that the governing board is "ultimately responsible for the administration of the hospital, including managing the operations of the hospital, ensuring patient welfare, conducting peer review, overseeing the risk management program and quality assurance activities, and determining eligibility for medical staff membership and clinical privileges." Fla. H.B. 1447, § 4 (2003). Section 4 further notes that this grant of authority is "subject to the provisions of sections 395.0191 and 395.0193, Florida Statutes." Fla. H.B. 1447, § 4 (2003). ⁴

Section 5 of the HGL provides that a governing board's authority "is not limited by the authority of its medical staff" and that it may therefore "reject or modify a medical staff recommendation." If the medical staff fails to act, the Board may initiate action concerning credentialing, peer review, and quality assurance. Fla. H.B. 1447, § 5 (2003).

_

⁴ The legislative history repeats this reference to the existing statutes and further notes that the "authority of the governing board of any hospital in relation to its medical staff is subject to . . . the articles of incorporation and bylaws of the hospital corporation." Fla. H.R. Comm. on Health Care, H.B. 1447 (2003), Staff Analysis 2 (rev. Apr. 14, 2003).

Section 5 then establishes controlling authority in the event the bylaws conflict:

[T]o the extent, if any, that the bylaws or other regulations of the medical staff conflict with the bylaws or other regulations of the governing board, the bylaws or other regulations of the governing board shall control with respect to medical staff privileges, quality assurance, peer review, and contracts for hospital-based services.

Section 5 requires that the governing board, before amending the "hospital's medical staff bylaws and related manuals, rules or regulations," must first submit them to the medical staff, with adequate notice, and then "carefully consider" any timely response it makes. Fla. H.B. 1447, § 5 (2003).

Section 6 provides a process for the governing board to modify a medical staff recommendation and to take timely "corrective or disciplinary action" against a physician when "a medical staff has failed to act within 75 days after a request from the governing board." Such action is subject to "a fair hearing process" that ensures the physician's right to be heard fully and represented by counsel. If after such fair hearing, the governing board "determines that corrective or disciplinary action is necessary," it must refer the matter to a six-member joint conference committee represented equally by the Board and the medical staff. This joint conference committee is to review the fair hearing recommendation and report

back to the Board. If the joint conference committee rejects the governing board's recommendation or proposes an alternative, the governing board "shall give full and complete consideration to the joint conference committee's recommendations." Fla. H.B. 1447, § 6 (2003).

Lawnwood's Attempted Implementation of The Governance Law

Following enactment of the HGL, the Board passed resolutions proposing to amend the Medical Staff Bylaws. R. 2092 ¶ 57. The Board of Trustees explained to its medical staff that the proposed amendments were necessary to enable the Hospital to comply with its responsibilities to provide effective peer review, credentialing and quality assurance under §§ 395.0191, 395.0193, 395.0197, Florida Statutes (2005). R. 160-204. The medical staff rejected the Board's proposed amendments to the Medical Staff Bylaws, citing "concerns about the constitutionality of the Governance Law." R. 205-207; R. 2093 ¶ 59. It then voted unanimously to retain counsel to attack the validity of the HGL. R. 208; R. 2093 ¶ 60.

C. Course of Proceedings and Disposition Below

Lawnwood filed suit, seeking a declaration that the HGL is constitutional; that the Board has the power and/or duty to propose valid amendments to the Medical Staff Bylaws pursuant to the HGL; and that the Board has the power

and/or duty to adopt the proposed amendments to the Medical Staff Bylaws as contained in the Board's resolutions. The parties filed cross motions for summary judgment. Following a hearing, the trial judge granted Appellee Seeger's motion and declared the HGL unconstitutional.

The trial judge declared the HGL unconstitutional on four grounds. First, the trial judge concluded that the HGL was invalid because it established "a privilege for a private corporation." R. 2721. Second, the trial judge concluded that (1) the Medical Staff Bylaws constitute a contract between the medical staff and the Board of Trustees and (2) that the HGL impermissibly impairs this contract because it "alters the standards described in the Medical Staff Bylaws" in violation of Art. I, § 10, Florida Constitution. R. 2707; R. 2709-2718.

The First District upheld the trial court on these two grounds and did not address the other two.⁵ *Lawnwood Med. Ctr., Inc.*, 959 So. 2d at 1223-1224.

The trial judge also concluded that the HGL impliedly amended § 395.0193, Florida Statutes, (2005) "by creating a special exemption for Lawnwood Medical Center, Inc. . . . without referencing the amendment in the law's title" in violation of Art. III, § 6, Florida Constitution. R. 2721. Finally, the trial judge ruled that the statute violated the Equal Protection Clauses of both the Florida and U.S. Constitutions by creating two classes of hospitals in Florida, those subject to the peer review process of § 395.0193, Florida Statutes (2005), and those subject to the peer review process of the HGL. R. 2722. The trial judge ruled that this classification was made "without any legitimate government purpose, and without

Because it held the HGL invalid, Lawnwood timely appealed to this Court.

D. Standard Of Review

The determination of a statute's constitutionality and the interpretation of a constitutional provision are legal questions subject to *de novo* review. *Fla. Dep't of Revenue v. City of Gainesville*, 918 So. 2d 250, 256 (Fla. 2005). This presumption of constitutionality continues on review after the lower court holds the law unconstitutional, and no deference is given to the lower court's ruling. *In re Estate of Caldwell*, 247 So. 2d 1, 3 (Fla. 1971). Further, a determination that a statute is facially unconstitutional means that no set of circumstances exists under which the statute would be valid. *City of Gainesville*, 918 So. 2d at 256.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In its origin, this case is aptly described as "the case of the dueling bylaws." Unlike ordinary contract disputes, this one uniquely affected the public interest. The ability to provide safe and effective medical care to the 250,000 people of St. Lucie County at its largest acute care hospital was endangered by the medical staff's irresponsible passivity, as exemplified by the two rogue pathologists whose malfeasance went unchecked by the medical staff's MEC. It took intervention by

a reasonable expectation that the classification would serve a governmental purpose." *Id.* These issues are addressed in Points III and IV.

the DOH through its emergency suspension order, and then federal indictments charging the performance of inappropriate and unnecessary pathology procedures⁶ to put an end to the imminent danger to public health posed by those physicians.

In striking down the HGL, the First District gave no weight at all to the HGL's stated public health purpose, *i.e.* to insist that the Board would remain "ultimately responsible" for "ensuring patient welfare." The First District was dismissive of this concern, asserting that "this legislation was not required to protect the public health, ensure the quality of care at Lawnwood, or accomplish some other legitimate public purpose." *Lawnwood Med. Ctr.*, 959 So. 2d at 1224. No facts follow this *ipse dixit*, nor any mention of the medical staff's past and continuing derelictions of duty.

The First District's assessment of the validity of the HGL under Art. III, § 11(a)(12) was thus superficial. It agreed with the trial judge that the law conferred an unconstitutional "privilege" on the Hospital. But the "privilege" conferred by the HGL was not economic favoritism of one competitor over another and not a benefit such as a tax credit, subsidy, or other monetary preference.

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