#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

LAWNWOOD MEDICAL CENTER, INC., CASE NO.: SC07-1300 d/b/a LAWNWOOD REGIONAL MEDICAL L.T. Case No.: 1D06-2016 CENTER AND HEART INSTITUTE, a Florida corporation,

Appellant,

vs.

RANDALL SEEGER, M.D., as President of the Medical Staff of Lawnwood Regional Medical Center, Inc., d/b/a Lawnwood Regional Medical Center and Heart Institute, and Member of the Medical Executive Committee of Lawnwood Regional Medical Center, Inc., d/b/a Lawnwood Regional Medical Center and Heart Institute,

Appellees.	
	/

#### ANSWER BRIEF BY APPELLEES

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

LRMC repeatedly attacks the First District's review and analysis of the Governance Law, calling the court's analysis "superficial" (I.B.at 15) and asserting that the court was "bound to uphold the legislative judgment." (Id. at 18.) In doing so, the Hospital appears to ignore the fact that interpreting the law is a uniquely judicial function, a principle which has been firmly established since at least 1803 when Chief Justice Marshall explained: "It is emphatically the province and duty of the judicial department to say what the law

is." <u>Marbury v. Madison</u>, 5 U.S. (1 Cranch) 137, 177, 2 L. Ed. 60 (1803).

LRMC makes much ado about a statute's presumption of validity, and alleges that "the district court did not even acknowledge that the HGL was entitled to a presumption of validity." (I.B. at 21.) However, the succinct and well-reasoned opinion by the First District makes clear that the court implicitly acknowledged this presumption, but found the plain language of the Constitution and of the HGL overcame the presumption. Furthermore, LRMC appears to ignore this Court's admonition in Amos v. Mathews, 126 So. 308, 315 (Fla. 1930):

"To the extent . . . that . . . an act violates express or clearly implied mandates of the Constitution, the act must fall, not merely because the court so decrees, but because of the dominant force of the Constitution, an authority superior to both Legislature and judiciary. Such an act never becomes a law."

The Governance Law therefore never became an effective law, because it violates multiple mandates of the Constitution.

As a special law that rearranges the balance of power between the Hospital and the Medical Staff, granting more power and control to the former while eliminating the medical staff's rights in the process, it violates the Florida Constitution's clear prohibition on special laws that grant a privilege to private corporations. Next, the Governance Law unconstitutionally impairs the existing contract formed by the 1993 Medical Staff Bylaws. This constitutional violation is both

facial, because of the narrow scope of the law, and "as applied" to the facts of this case. Third, the Governance Law amends existing statutes that regulate relationships between hospitals and their medical staffs, and does so improperly by failing to reference properly the statutes it amends. Finally, the Governance Law violates the requirements of Equal Protection in both the federal and state constitutions. It creates an impermissible classification of hospitals and medical staff in only one county, in which the only two hospitals are operated by LRMC's parent and sole shareholder, without a legitimate legislative purpose. Moreover, the Legislature lacked any rational basis for this classification.

Based on the above constitutional violations, and as detailed in the discussion below, the Governance Law violates multiple constitutional mandates and thus should never have become law.

Since the First District ruled only on the first two issues above, namely the special grant of privilege and impairment of contract, if this Court decides that the Law is constitutional on those bases, Appellees request a remand to the First District Court of Appeal for an opinion on the other arguments.

#### ARGUMENT

I. THE GOVERNANCE LAW IS A SPECIAL LAW GRANTING A PROHIBITED PRIVILEGE TO A PRIVATE CORPORATION, IN VIOLATION OF ARTICLE III, SECTION 11 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

Article III, section 11(a)(12) of the Florida Constitution provides that "[t]here shall be no special law or general law of local application pertaining to...grant of privilege to a private corporation." A "general law of local application" is a law that uses a classification scheme based on population or some other criterion, so that its application is restricted to particular localities. City of Miami Beach v. Frankel, 363 So. 2d 555 (Fla. 1978). A "special law" is a statute relating to particular persons or things or other particular subjects of a class. State ex rel. Gray v. Stoumire, 131 Fla. 698, 179 So. 730 (1938).

LRMC argues that the First District failed to apply the presumption of constitutionality, and asserts that the definition of "privilege" should encompass only "financial give-aways", grants of "economic benefit", and grants of "competitive advantage". (I.B. at 21, 24, 26.) While the HGL does provide an economic benefit and clear competitive advantage to the Hospital, thereby satisfying even LRMC's restrictive definition of "privilege", this definition is incorrect and does not provide a basis on which to overturn the First District's decision.

A. Lawnwood brought the declaratory judgment action for a determination of the HGL's constitutionality, and modern courts are not engaged in the practice of "rubber-stamping" legislative acts

This Court is deciding the issues *de* novo, so the correct standard is laid out below.

The presumption of constitutionality must be subject to reasonable construction of a statute, as noted by LRMC itself in its case citations. See, e.g., Royal World Metropolitan, Inc. v. City of Miami Beach, 863 So. 2d 320, 321 (Fla. 3d DCA 2003); LRMC's Memo. of Law In Support of Its Motion for Sum. Judgment, at 5 (R. at 2100) (requiring that the Court "look for a reason to uphold the [Law] and adopt a reasonable view that will do so"). However, the Constitution itself expressly prohibits any "special law or general law of local application pertaining to...private incorporation or grant of privilege to a private corporation." Art. III, § 11(a)(12), Fla. Const.

If a law violates the plain meaning of that Constitutional provision, it would be manifestly unreasonable for the Court to find otherwise, despite LRMC's insistence to the contrary. As this Court has stated, "[i]t must be very plain, nay absolutely certain, that the people did not intend what the language they had employed in its natural signification imports before a court should feel at liberty to depart from the plain meaning of a constitutional provision." City of Jacksonville v. Continental Can Co., 113 Fla. 168, 172-73, 151 So. 488, 489-90 (1933). See also Florida League of Cities v. Smith, 607 So. 2d 397, 400

(Fla. 1992) ("the law is settled that when constitutional language is precise, its exact letter must be enforced and extrinsic guides to construction are not allowed to defeat the plain language"); City of St. Petersburg v. Briley, Wild & Associates, Inc., 239 So. 2d 817, 822 (Fla. 1970) ("[i]f the language is clear...we have no power to go outside the bounds of the constitutional provision in search of excuses to give a different meaning to words used therein").

Similar rules apply to statutory construction. Continental Cas, 113 Fla. at 171, 151 So. at 489. Therefore, the Court must examine the plain language of the Governance Law and decide whether it violates the plain language of the Constitution. "Extrinsic guides to construction" come into play only if an ambiguity exists and the Court is asked to interpret that ambiguity. Still, however, the Court's interpretation must be reasonable. Royal World Metropolitan, 863 So. 2d at 321; Tyne v. Time Warner Entertainment Co., 901 So. 2d 802, 810 (Fla. 2005).

As discussed in section B below, if the Governance Law, as a special law, does grant a privilege to a private corporation, then it is invalid under the plain meaning of the Constitution. Again, "when constitutional language is precise, its exact letter must be enforced and extrinsic guides to construction are not allowed to defeat the plain language." In re Advisory Opinion to the Governor, 374 So. 2d 959, 964 (Fla. 1979). The lack of case law contradicting the First District's reading of the plain language of the statute and Constitution does not indicate its failure to use the correct presumption.

# B. "Privilege" Is Not Narrowly Defined as "Financial Giveaways," and Under the Proper Definition, the Governance Law Does Grant a Privilege to a Private Corporation

LRMC now acknowledges that a "privilege" includes economic or competitive advantages granted to one business over others. (I.B. at 24, 26.) It then makes the incredulous argument, however, that it has not received a special right or a peculiar benefit, because "the HGL treats all St. Lucie County hospitals equally; Lawnwood receives no special benefit above other (I.B. at 26.) This statement indicates the hospitals." Hospital's complete disregard for the constitutional prohibition. The HGL does indeed treat all (two of the) St. Lucie County hospitals equally; however, the Hospital's sole shareholder and parent happens to own both of those hospitals. Moreover, LRMC does receive a special benefit above other hospitals in Florida. The scope of the constitutional inquiry is not limited to competitors or similarly situated entities in the same county, but rather those throughout the state. Hospital also asserts that "the HGL does not confer a benefit on the Hospital." (I.B. at 24.) That statement is a rather odd assertion, since LRMC requested the Law in the first place.

LRMC continues to try to restrict improperly the definition of "privilege" under Article III, section 11(a)(12) of the Florida Constitution. When searching for the meaning of a word in a law, however, as the First District recognized, it "should be given its plain meaning." M.W. v. Davis, 756 So. 2d 90, 101

(Fla. 2000). "When necessary, the plain and ordinary meaning of words in a statute can be ascertained by reference to a dictionary." Seagrave v. State, 802 So. 2d 281, 286 (Fla. 2001). The same principle applies to constitutional interpretation. City of Jacksonville v. Continental Can Co., 113 Fla. 168, 171, 151 So. 488, 489 (1933).

The First District utilized this principle in its opinion below, quoting from dictionary definitions of "privilege" in its finding that the HGL is unconstitutional. That court stated: "[t]he [HGL]...unconstitutionally grants a *substantial* privilege to this private corporation" (emphasis added). <u>Lawnwood</u>, 959 So.2d at 1225.

Notably, the definitions employed by the First District encompass much more than "financial give-aways", "economic benefits", or even "competitive advantage". LRMC attempts to advance its own definitions by citing to three out-of-state cases in which grants of privilege were found, then promptly distinguishing them from the case before this Court by pointing out that each of them involved a privilege with a financial aspect. (I.B. at 22-24). However, although the few published privilege cases in other states happened to involve fairly direct financial benefits to private corporations, it does not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Citing <u>Joyner</u>, <u>Jr. v. Center Motor Co.</u>, 66 S.E. 2d 469 (Va. 1951); <u>World Trade Ctr. Taxing Dist. v. All Taxpayers</u>, <u>Prop. Owners and Citizens of World Trade Ctr. Taxing Dist. and Nonresidents Owning Prop. or Subject to Taxation Therein</u>, 894 So. 2d 1185 (La. Ct. App. 2005); and <u>Concerned Residents of Gloucester County v. Bd of Supervisors of Gloucester County</u>, 449 S.E. 2d 787 (Va. 1994).

follow that the meaning of "privilege" under the Florida Constitution is restricted to such. LRMC's conclusion is a logical fallacy. Based on the definitions set out by the First District Court under the plain meaning rule, as well as LRMC's acknowledgment that "privilege" also includes competitive advantage, the Hospital's suggested outcome would be absurd.

Thus, in order to determine whether the Governance Law granted a privilege to LRMC, a private corporation, the Court must determine whether the Governance Law constituted "a law for or against a private person, or a right or immunity granted as a peculiar benefit, advantage, or favor[; or]...a special legal right, exemption, or immunity granted to a person or class of persons; an exception to a duty." <a href="Lawnwood">Lawnwood</a>, 959 So.2d at 1225 (internal citations and quotations omitted).

Based on these definitions, and under the constitutional provision's status as an absolute prohibition, the Governance Law did grant a privilege to LRMC and is therefore invalid. Even if the definition were restricted to some economic benefit, the HGL gives the Hospital administration the right to avoid its preexisting contractual obligations. Specifically, the HGL allows LRMC to control the medical staff unilaterally, through the use of economic credentialing and exclusive contracts, as well as through the right to unilaterally amend the Medical Staff Bylaws. These rights provide direct and indirect financial benefits to the Hospital. The Hospital argues that "[h]elping Lawnwood to discipline or de-credential dangerous, malpracticing physicians bears no semblance of [sic] a privilege to a private

corporation..." (I.B. at 25.) Again, however, the Hospital engages in inflammatory statements without record support. The record below does not show that Drs. Walker and Minarcik, or any other physicians, were "dangerous" or "malpracticing." In addition, as noted above, Drs. Walker and Minarcik were gone by the time the HGL was passed.

Interestingly, LRMC focuses its arguments under the prohibited privilege section on the definition of privilege. It musters up only two sentences that contradict the grant of a privilege under the definition above. LRMC asserts that "the Governance Law does not confer a benefit on the Hospital .... the purpose of the HGL [is] to enable the Hospital to comply with its existing legal obligations over credentialing, peer review and quality assurance." (I.B. at 24-25). This conclusory statement actually supports the finding of a privilege. In this case, an existing statutory scheme creates legal obligations and guidelines for all private hospitals in the state, then gives those hospitals great latitude in deciding how to fulfill those obligations. LRMC used this latitude to create and agree to a set of procedures<sup>5</sup> that complied with the law but did impose some restrictions on itself. When it later encountered a situation in which it could not act as it wished, rather than seeking redress from the courts, LRMC requested from the Legislature the right to retract and amend its earlier arrangements in order to "facilitate" its compliance with its purported obligations and

 $<sup>^4</sup>$  Chapters 395 and 766, Florida Statutes (2005).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The Trustee and Medical Staff Bylaws.

avoid compliance with the contractually-imposed reasonableness and "good cause" standards. LRMC did, however, have other options, both statutory and judicial, to comply with its legal obligations; the Governance Law simply made its compliance easier. In doing so, the Law rearranged the balance of power between the Hospital and the Medical Staff, granting more power and control to the former while eliminating substantive and procedural rights of the latter.

This rearrangement constitutes "a right or immunity granted as a peculiar benefit, advantage, or favor." Lawnwood, 959 So.2d at 1225 (citing Webster's Ninth New Collegiate Dictionary 936 (1989)). The record below exhaustively sets out the particulars. Just as an example, section 395.0193(g), Florida Statutes, provides that "a peer review panel shall investigate and determine whether grounds for discipline exist with respect to such staff member or physician." (Emphasis added). Section 6 of the Governance Law, meanwhile, provides:

[W]here a medical staff has failed to act within 75 days after a request from the governing board to take action against, or with regard to, an individual physician...a governing board may take action independent of the actions of the medical staff....

This provision gives the right to decide whether grounds for discipline exist to the governing board, instead of a peer review panel ("board determines that corrective or disciplinary action is necessary"). That right is a "peculiar benefit, advantage, or favor" since the law is a special law by definition, applying only to private hospitals in St. Lucie

County. Private hospitals in every other county must still allow a peer review panel to make the determination of whether grounds for discipline exist.

As discussed in the following sections, the Governance Law grants other rights and immunities to the Hospital, such as a more lax standard for revising and amending a negotiated contract, the ability to practically ignore standard contract law, a separate peer review and appeal process, and an enormous advantage over the medical staff in case of conflict. It also permits economic credentialing, entrance into exclusive contracts, and gives the Hospital the right to eliminate the medical staff's participation in deciding medical care.

# III. THE GOVERNANCE LAW IMPAIRS THE OBLIGATION OF CONTRACT

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